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 Things are not the way they used to be.

 The people who enforce the tax laws are not who they used to be.

 The statutes traditionally used to enforce the tax code are not what they 
used to be.



 Section 7203: Willful failure to file timely return (1 year)

 Section 7206(1): Willfully subscribing false return under 
penalties of perjury (3 years; no tax 
deficiency required)

 Section 7206(2): Willfully aiding and assisting in filing false 
return (3 years; “return preparers” statute)

 Section 7201: Willfully attempting to evade or defeat tax 
(5 years; requires proof of tax deficiency)

All of these “classic” statutes require “willfulness”.



 U.S. v. Bishop, 93 S. Ct.  2008 (1973): Voluntary, intentional 
violation of known legal duty.

 Cheek v. U.S.,  111 S. Ct. 604 (1991):  A good-faith 
misunderstanding of the law or a good-faith belief that one is 
not violating the law negates willfulness, whether or not the 
claimed belief or misunderstanding is objectively reasonable.

 Ratzlaf v. U.S., 114 S.Ct 655 (1994): Actual knowledge that 
one’s action are unlawful is required.

 An exception to the general rule that “ignorance of the law is 
no excuse”.





 “The proliferation of statutes and regulations has sometimes 
made it difficult for the average citizen to know and 
comprehend the extent of the duties and obligations imposed 
by the tax laws… 

 Congress has accordingly softened the impact of the common 
law presumption by making specific intent to violate the law an 
element of certain federal criminal tax offenses…

 Thus, the Court almost 60 years ago interpreted the statutory 
term "willfully" as used in the federal criminal tax statutes as 
carving out an exception to the traditional rule [that citizens 
are presumed to know the law, meaning that ignorance of the 
law is no excuse]”. Cheek v. U.S.



 Section 7202: Willful failure to pay over taxes (5 years)

 Section 7212: Impeding the IRS (3 years; no “willfulness”)

 18 USC § 371: Conspiracy to impede the IRS (5 years; no 
“willfulness”)



By way of background and introduction:

 Int. Rev Code §6672 saddles a taxpayer with personal civil
liability for the trust fund portion of unpaid payroll taxes.

 Sec. 7202  (a five-year felony) has jumped from a seldom-used 
offense reserved for truly egregious cases, to a criminal tool 
that the IRS is actively encouraged to use in payroll tax 
deficiencies that would previously have been viewed as 
“routine”.



Sec. 6672 - Failure to collect and pay over tax, or attempt to 
evade or defeat tax.

Any person required to collect, truthfully account for, and pay 
over any tax imposed by this title who willfully fails to collect 
such tax, or truthfully account for and pay over such tax, or 
willfully attempts in any manner to evade or defeat any such tax 
or the payment thereof, shall, in addition to other penalties 
provided by law, be liable to a penalty equal to the total amount 
of the tax evaded, or not collected, or not accounted for and 
paid over. 



Sec. 7202 - Willful failure to collect or pay over tax.

Any person required under this title to collect, account for, and 
pay over any tax imposed by this title who willfully fails to collect 
or truthfully account for and pay over such tax shall, in addition 
to other penalties provided by law, be guilty of a felony and, 
upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not more than $10,000, 
or imprisoned not more than 5 years, or both, together with the 
costs of prosecution.



Sec. 6672 - Failure to collect and pay over tax, or attempt to 
evade or defeat tax.

1. Any person required to collect, truthfully account for, and 
pay over any tax imposed by this title who

2. willfully

3. fails to collect such tax, or truthfully account for and pay over 
such tax, or willfully attempts in any manner to evade or 
defeat any such tax or the payment thereof, shall, in addition 
to other penalties provided by law, be liable to a penalty 
equal to the total amount of the tax evaded, or not collected, 
or not accounted for and paid over. 



Sec. 7202 - Willful failure to collect or pay over tax.

1. Any person required under this title to collect, account for, 
and pay over any tax imposed by this title who 

2. willfully

3. fails to collect or truthfully account for and pay over such tax 
shall, in addition to other penalties provided by law, be guilty 
of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not 
more than $10,000, or imprisoned not more than 5 years, or 
both, together with the costs of prosecution.



Under section 6672, the civil counterpart to section 7202, a 
voluntary, conscious, and intentional act of paying the claims of 
other creditors … constitutes a "willful" violation of the duty to 
pay over. . . .  Similarly, it is the Tax Division's position that a 
person willfully fails to pay over tax under section 7202 when, 
instead of paying the trust fund taxes, he voluntarily and 
intentionally uses the money to pay the claims of other creditors.  



DOJ is well aware of the interplay between § 6672 and § 7202.  

In fact, the Criminal Tax Manual affirmatively suggests that 
information gathered in civil investigations can serve as the basis 
for obtaining criminal convictions:  

Prosecutors should ascertain whether an IRS Form 2751, 
Proposed Assessment of Trust Fund Recovery Penalty, or an IRS 
Form 4180, “Report of Interview with Individual Relative to Trust 
Fund Recovery Penalty or Personal Liability for Excise Taxes,” was 
completed during the civil administrative part of the case, 
because these documents may contain relevant admissions or 
statements by the defendant. 





Only One Thing:  Burden of Proof.

 In § 6672 cases, the IRS’ assessment is presumed correct; and 
the taxpayer has the burden of proof of rebutting it.

 In § 7202 cases – as in all criminal cases – the government has 
the burden to prove all elements of the crime beyond a 
reasonable doubt.





The other two “new” statutes in the IRS’ arsenal are very 
different on the surface but – as it turns out – are very similar in 
application:

 §7212 of the Internal Revenue Code

 18 USC § 371 (the general federal conspiracy statute)



 Attempts to interfere with administration of internal revenue 
laws.

 (a) Corrupt or forcible interference. 

Whoever corruptly or by force or threats of force (including any threatening 
letter or communication) endeavors to intimidate or impede any officer or 
employee of the United States acting in an official capacity under this title, or 
in any other way corruptly or by force or threats of force (including any 
threatening letter or communication) obstructs or impedes, or endeavors to 
obstruct or impede, the due administration of this title, shall, upon conviction 
thereof, be fined not more than $5,000, or imprisoned not more than 3 years, 
or both, except that if the offense is committed only by threats of force, the 
person convicted thereof shall be fined not more than $3,000, or imprisoned 
not more than 1 year, or both. The term “threats of force”, as used in this 
subsection, means threats of bodily harm to the officer or employee of the 
United States or to a member of his family.

 Notice absence of the word, “willfully”?



 Mens rea under § 7212 is not the same as “willfulness” under 
tax statutes where that term is used.  

 The government is not required to prove that the defendant in 
a § 7212 prosecution knew that his conduct was unlawful.  
Proof of intention to obstruct the IRS (even without knowing 
that such conduct would violate §7212) is sufficient.  

 See, e.g., U.S v. Williamson, 746 F3d 987 (10th Cir. 2014), cert. denied 
135 S.Ct. 152 (2014)



To “corruptly” impede or obstruct any officer or employee of the 
United States in the administration of the Internal Revenue 
Code:

 Does not (necessarily) mean “bribe”.  

 Does not (necessarily) mean to threaten.  

 Does not (necessarily) mean that the defendant wrongfully sought to 
gain any financial advantage.

According to DOJ Tax Division policy (Policy Directive 77), 
engaging in conduct designed to make audits more difficult is “an 
example of a situation when Section 7212(a) charges might be 
appropriate”.



18 U.S. Code § 371 - Conspiracy to commit offense or to defraud 
United States.

 If two or more persons conspire either [1] to commit any 
offense against the United States, or [2] to defraud the United 
States, or any agency thereof in any manner or for any 
purpose, and one or more of such persons do any act to effect 
the object of the conspiracy, each shall be fined under this title 
or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.

While 18 USC §371 makes it a crime to conspire to commit any 
substantive crime against the United States, § 371 also makes it a 
crime to conspire “to defraud the United States”. 



 “To defraud the United States” (within the meaning of § 371) 
does NOT imply the stealing of money or something else of 
value by deceitful means (which is what most people would 
think “defraud” means).  

 For purposes of § 371, the courts have said that “defraud” 
means:

“To interfere with or obstruct a lawful governmental function by 
deceit, craft or trickery, or at least by means that are dishonest.” 



 A “conspiracy to defraud the United States” is commonly 
known as a “Klein-type conspiracy”.

 Named after U.S v. Klein, 139 F.Supp. 135, 141 (SDNY 1955), 
aff’d 247 F2d 908 (2d. Cir. 1957), cert. denied 355 U.S. 924 
(1958)  (a criminal case based upon a fact pattern that you 
would recognize as a §482 inter-company pricing issue.)

 A conspiracy to defraud the IRS was described in Klein as an 
“attempt to throw sand in the government’s eyes”, 139 F.Supp. 
at 141.)



 As interpreted by the IRS, DOJ and the courts, the nature and 
scope of § 7212 and 18 USC § 371 – intent to impede or 
obstruct the IRS – is essentially identical.

 The distinguishing characteristic is that a conspiracy requires 
participation of two or more actors; whereas, a violation of §
7212 can be accomplished by a single person.

 Neither § 7212 nor 18 USC § 371 contains the word, “willful”.



 The official DOJ position, as stated in briefs and arguments at 
the appellate level, is:

 Citizens have a duty to conduct their business affairs in such a manner 
that the IRS is not impeded or impair in its collection of the revenue.

 If whatever you are doing is intended  to impede or impair the IRS, then 
it is a crime.

 INTENTIONALLY STRUCTURING A TRANSACTION TO MAKE IT 
MORE DIFFICULT FOR THE IRS TO CONDUCT AN AUDIT CAN BE 
A CRIME.



 Some courts have disagreed with such a broad an 
interpretation (emphasizing that the classic formula describing 
a conspiracy to defraud requires interference or obstruction of 
a governmental function by deceit, craft or trickery).

 e.g.,  U.S v. Caldwell, 989 F 2d 1056 (9th Cir 1993).



But  . . . . 
Unfortunately – particularly in the tax planning area and 
sometimes in the controversy area – some of the “craft” that we 
are trained in (and are paid for) is sometimes seen by the IRS 
precisely as “trickery”.



In this arena, there is no such thing as “too big to jail”.

Prominent tax professionals recently charged with tax 
obstruction offenses: 

 Four national partners of Ernst & Young (U.S. v. Coplan et al., 703 F.3d 
46 (2nd Cir. 2012)).

 Six national partners of KPMG and one partner of  Sidley & Austin (U.S. 
v. Pfaff, et al., 619 F.3d 172 (2nd Cir. 2010); U.S. v. Ruble et al., 2009 
WL911035 (2nd Cir. 2009).

 Five national partners of BDO and a senior partner of Jenkens & 
Gilchrist., U.S v Daugerdas ___F3d. ___, 2016 WL 5111248 (2d Cir. Sept. 
21, 2016). (See excerpts in handout)).

 A Tax Court judge who resigned from the Tax Court in view of her 
impending indictment  for “conspiracy to defraud” (U.S. v. Kroupa,  
pending.  (Guilty plea entered October 21, 2016)).



 Quite legitimate business transactions can be complicated and 
difficult to understand. Sometimes the IRS just does not 
understand.

 IRS agents are possibly not as smart as you, and they are 
almost certainly not as business savvy as you are.  To them 
thinking “outside the box” can mean “outside the law”.

 Sometimes, to the IRS, the confusion associated with a 
“normal” business transaction may seem intentional. If the 
purpose of making the transaction more complex than it needs 
to be, is in order to “obfuscate”, that can be a crime.  



As you plan your strategy, you need to examine:

 Is the confusion intended to impede the IRS?

 (Remember:  The IRS may see it differently than you do.)



Are those multi-step transactions intended to make it harder for 
the IRS to see the “big picture”?

(Remember:  The IRS may see it differently than you do.)



Is it skill? Or is it trickery?

(Remember:  The IRS may see it differently than you do.)



Skill, or intentional obfuscation?

(Remember:  The IRS may see it differently than you do.)



Remember:

Like beauty, “skill” or “trickery” is sometimes in the eye of the 
beholder.  

And that can be dangerous for people like you and me.  
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The conviction of Paul Daugerdas was affirmed by the Second Circuit on 
September 24, 2016.  The court’s discussion of the basis for his conviction is 
sobering:

“Daugerdas attacks the sufficiency of the government’s proof that he knowingly 
developed and sold shelters that violated the so-called economic substance rule. 
Under this rule, “sham transactions that [cannot] with reason be said to have 
purpose, substance, or utility apart from their anticipated tax consequences” 
cannot form the basis of legitimate tax losses under the Internal Revenue Code. 

“For a jury to conclude that Daugerdas had the necessary mens rea to commit tax 
evasion, mail fraud, and obstruction of the IRS on the basis of violations of the 
economic substance rule, they would have to find both that he knew the rule and 
knew that the transactions lacked economic substance. Our inquiry into whether a 
transaction lacks economic substance requires us to examine “(1) whether the 
[clients] had an objectively reasonable expectation of profit, apart from tax 
benefits, from the transaction; and (2) whether the [clients] had a subjective non-
tax business purpose in entering the transaction.” This inquiry does not involve “a 
rigid two-step process,” but instead calls for a “flexible analysis where both prongs 
are factors to consider in the overall inquiry.” 
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After discussing the evidence, the court concluded:

“A rational jury could thus have concluded that Daugerdas (1) was familiar with the 
economic substance rule and (2) knew that the transactions lacked economic 
substance because he knew that (a) [clients] had no objectively reasonable 
expectation of making a profit from the Swaps Shelter and (b) they did not have a 
subjective non-tax business purpose in entering the transaction. Therefore, the 
evidence was sufficient for a jury to find that Daugerdas was guilty of tax evasion, 
mail fraud, and obstruction of the IRS.”

Conclusions:

 It is down-right dangerous to engage in tax planning where any step does 
not have a non-tax business purpose.

 It is dangerous to assume or to assert non-tax motives that are specious.
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Let me be very clear:

 These problems are intended to stimulate your thinking about potential 
ramifications of some of the issues raised in this presentation.

 These problems are not intended to suggest that any of the actions 
described or suggested in these problems would necessarily (or even 
possibly) constitute a criminal act (or even an unethical act).

 These problems are intended to suggest that there may be persons within 
the government who might possibly see such actions as worthy of 
consideration for criminal investigation.

 In no way am I suggesting if such an investigation or prosecution were 
initiated, there would not be perfectly good defensive arguments that 
could be made, or that such arguments would not (or should not) 
eventually prevail.

 If you can read through these problems and not be bothered in the least by 
the possible implications that are presented, then you are out of touch with 
the times -- and I have failed to make my point.
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A client comes to ask your advice regarding a business that he has been 
operating as a Schedule C sole proprietorship.  The business has never, ever 
operated as a profit, and the client’s practice of off-setting the business’ 
losses against other income has never been questioned by the IRS; but he is 
worried that this will eventually happen.  The client tells you he has read 
some interesting statistics showing that a Schedule C business is almost six 
times as likely to be audited by the IRS as an S Corporation.  (Yes, this is what 
the IRS itself reports.)

So – the client asks you—wouldn’t it make sense to incorporate his business 
and elect S corporation status?
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You are representing a client who owes the IRS a great deal of money. The IRS 
has gotten aggressive in its collection activities, and has recently levied upon 
client’s bank accounts.

Knowing that the IRS most frequently becomes aware of bank accounts 
because of 1099’s sent in to the IRS reporting interest income, and further 
knowing that no such 1099’s will be forthcoming for at least 11 months, client 
asks for your advice:  Can client open a new bank account, in a new bank  
(such account being in client’s correct name)?  The client’s only true motive 
for opening such account is the supposition that the IRS cannot levy upon the 
new account unless or until it becomes aware of the existence of the account; 
and in the meantime, the account will be safe from levy.
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You are representing a client who owes the IRS a great deal of money. The IRS 
has gotten aggressive in its collection activities, and has recently levied upon 
client’s bank accounts.  In fact, the IRS has sent Client a notice indicating that 
a levy upon his bank account is imminent and will definitely occur within the 
next several days.

Client has a large cashier’s check in his possession that he has not yet 
deposited.  He needs to get it into a his bank account because he has some 
other creditors (other than the IRS) who are clamoring for payment.

Client has researched the law, and has correctly concluded that IRS levies 
upon bank accounts are not “continuing” in nature; that is to say, a levy upon 
a bank account only “traps” the funds that are in the account on the day the 
levy is served.

Client asks for your advice:  Can he just hang on to the cashier’s check and not 
deposit it until sometime after the IRS’ levy has been served?
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You are representing a client who owes the IRS a great deal of money. This 
client is a professional athlete who has a lucrative endorsement contract with 
a sporting goods manufacturer. In the past, the IRS has served writs of 
garnishment upon the sporting goods company directing it to pay over to the 
IRS the payment that would otherwise go to Client.

Client knows that many professional athletes are represented by sports 
management firms. A good friend of Client has suggested that he (the friend) 
will set up a new corporation (Newco) to manage Client’s sports business.  
Among other things, Newco will negotiate a new contract with the sporting 
goods company that henceforth will pay the annual endorsement fee to 
Newco.  The point of this, of course, is that a garnishment served upon the 
sporting goods company to trap monies due to Client will not extend to 
monies owed to Newco, a completely separate taxpayer that owes no taxes at 
all.

Client wants to engage you to “paper” this transaction.
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Client owns a piece of real estate.  Out of the blue, a person offered to 
purchase the land, for cash, for an amount that Client thinks is close to double 
what the land is worth.  Client has a contract signed by the buyer in hand, 
providing that the sale will close next week. Client has come to you for advice.

You examine the offer and have no problems at all with the offer.  The terms 
have all been agreed to. All the client has to do is to sign the contract.

However, you notice that as of the scheduled closing date, Client will only 
have owned the land for 11 ½ months.  Knowing that significant advantage of 
long term capital gains, you consider advising Client to make a counter-offer, 
accepting all terms except for the closing date which you want to postpone 
until more than a full 12 months has run from the date of acquisition.
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Client, a very wealthy person, has come to you for estate planning.  One of 
the things that comes to mind as you discuss his situation is the possibility of 
a family limited partnership (FLP).  

You are aware that there is a well-settled rule of law that a transaction will be 
deemed to have economic substance and will be respected for federal tax 
purposes only if the Taxpayer has a substantial purpose (apart from Federal  
effects) for entering into such transaction; and that the IRS has invoked this 
principle in the context of FLPs. 

Of course, you are aware of the fact that FLPs can offer considerable asset 
protection from claims of creditors; but in truth and in fact (and despite your 
prodding and prying), this Client does not really have any ascertainable asset-
protection needs.  The only reason for considering a family limited 
partnership is to obtain a significant reduction in the estate-tax value of the 
assets that will be placed into the FLP.
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Same facts as Problem Six; but in addition, one of your summer law clerks 
suggests that “hypothetical” creditor-protection concerns (concerns which 
are “possible” but are not actually anticipated or feared by the Client) could 
be mentioned in contemporaneous emails or memos and placed in the file in 
order to “document” non-tax motives, in the event that the bona fides of the 
FLP is ever contested by the IRS.
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Client, a very wealthy person, has come to you for estate planning.  Client 
says he is on the verge of making a number of large (non-exempt) gifts of 
assets having a value of $20 million.  Knowing that FLPs are often used to 
achieve a discount from the value of the underlying assets in the FLP due to 
lack of liquidity and lack of control, you are inclined to suggest that instead of 
gifting the assets directly, Client should first drop the assets into a FLP, and 
make gifts of interests in the FLP. Through this method (you estimate), he can 
make effectively $20 million worth of gifts (based upon the value of the assets 
prior to formation of the FLP) for a taxable value of no more than about $15 
million.  The result (if not challenged by the IRS) will be a very significant 
saving in gift taxes.  

Being aware of cases where similar transactions have been merged by the IRS 
together under the “step transaction” doctrine, you suggest that Client 
transfer the assets to the FLP and allow that transaction to become “old and 
cold” before Client completes the intended overall transaction by making gifts 
of interests in the FLP. You suggest that dividing the two parts of the 
transaction into two separate taxable years will reduce the likelihood that the 
IRS (in the event of an audit) will notice  the two parts of the transaction and 
thus even further reduce the likelihood of a gift tax assessment based upon 
the value of the underlying assets.
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